A. INTRODUCTION

The present action arises out ofthe State ofWashington's ( " the State ") 

assessment of $235, 834.00 in Business and Occupations ( " B &O ") tax, 

together with interest and penalties of $114, 174.22, against Space Age Fuels, 

Inc. ( "Space Age "). The State assessed the tax based on certain sales ofnon- 

branded fuel that Space Age made to wholesale customers in Washington. 

Space Age's customers purchased this fuel because Space Age had the lowest

price, and they ordered the fuel by telephoning, faxing, or e- mailing their

orders to Space Age' s office in Oregon. After the customers placed their

orders, Space Age delivered the fuel to the customers in Washington in Space

Age' s own trucks. 

Believing that the State' s assessment of the tax violated the

Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution, Space Age filed an

administrative appeal with the Washington Department ofRevenue ( "DOR "), 

which upheld the assessment. Space Age then paid the tax, interest, and

penalties, and initiated this refund action in the Thurston County Superior

Court. On cross - motions for summary judgment, the superior court held that

the State' s assessment of the B &O tax did not violate the Commerce Clause

because Space Age's deliveries of the fuel in its own trucks, by themselves, 

established the " substantial nexus" that is required before a state may
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constitutionally impose a tax on a non - resident taxpayer. 

The superior court's ruling is contrary to a DOR regulation stating that

the State may only impose a tax on inbound sales delivered in the non- 

resident taxpayer's own trucks " if there is nexus," meaning that the delivery

alone does not create the nexus. The ruling is also contrary to United States

Supreme Court and Washington Supreme Court authority that only those in- 

state activities that "are significantly associated with the taxpayer's ability to

establish and maintain a market in [ the taxing] state" can create the

constitutionally - required nexus. This case offers the Court an opportunity to

further clarify what constitutes substantial nexus under the Commerce Clause

in an era when such clarification is essential for businesses. Because the

delivery of a product that the customer has already decided to buy, based on

price alone, is not an activity that is significantly associated with the

taxpayer's ability to establish and maintain a market in [ the] state," the trial

court erred in holding that Space Age' s deliveries, standing alone, create the

constitutionally - required substantial nexus, and thus erred in granting the

State' s motion for summary judgment. 

B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1) Assignment of Error

The trial court erred in granting the State' s motion for summary
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judgment by order entered on January 6, 2012. 

2) Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error

Did the trial court err in concluding that Space Age's delivery of fuel, 

in its own trucks, to customers in Washington, standing alone, created the

substantial nexus" required in order to allow the State to impose its B &O tax

on Space Age without violating the Commerce Clause of the United States

Constitution? (Assignment of Error Number 1). 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1) Substantive Facts

Space Age is a company engaged in the business of selling fuel at

retail and wholesale. CP 53. Space Age is incorporated in Oregon, and its

principal place of business is in Clackamas, Oregon. CP 54. The company

has approximately 72 employees, including its owner and president. Id. 

Space Age' s wholesale sales are made to independent, "non- branded" 

companies, i. e., companies not affiliated with recognized oil companies. CP

54. Space Age's ability to make these wholesale sales is driven by one factor: 

price. Id. If Space Age can quote its wholesale customers a lower price than

its competitors, it will be able to make a sale; if it cannot, it will not. Id. 

With the exception of three isolated retail sales, all of Space Age' s

customers in Washington are wholesale customers. CP 54. All of Space
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Age's sales to Washington customers are made over the telephone, at Space

Age's office in Oregon. Id. In response to customer inquiries for price

information, Space Age will provide quotes either by fax, telephone, or e- 

mail. CP 54, 380. 1 After Space Age accepts a customer's order, Space Age

delivers the fuel to the customer in Space Age's own vehicles or, on rare

occasions, by common carrier. CP 23, 27 -28. 

During the audit period,2 Space Age did not own or lease any office, 

warehouse, or other place ofbusiness in Washington. CP 13. In fact, Space

Age did not own, rent, or lease any real property, or any tangible or intangible

personal property, in Washington. CP 12 -13. 

Space Age had no bank accounts in Washington. CP 14. No Space

Age employees or representatives were located in Washington. CP 15. No

directors, board members, officers, or any other managers or employees of

Space Age visited Washington for the purpose ofholding or participating in

any type of business meeting or conference. CP 21. Space Age had no

contracts with any person or entity in Washington. CP 22. Although Space

1

Contrary to what the State contended below, Space Age did not " solicit" sales. 
Instead, Space Age responded to customer inquiries for fuel prices via whatever method the
customer requested, telephone, facsimile, or e-mail. CP 376, 380. 

2 The audit period is January 1, 2004 through June 30, 2007. Except as otherwise
noted, all of the facts stated herein are relevant to the audit period. Accordingly, for ease of

readability, Space Age will hereafter dispense with the introductory phrase " during the audit
period." 
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Age operates approximately 20 retail outlets in Oregon, it has no retail outlets

in Washington; with three isolated exceptions, all of Space Age's sales to

customers in Washington are at the wholesale level. CP 54. As noted above, 

Space Age' s wholesale sales are made to independent, " non- branded" 

companies, id., and, as a result, Space Age did not provide its wholesale

customers with any advertising material or signage. CP 22. 

Space Age has approximately 40 wholesale customers in Washington. 

CP 54. As is the case with all of Space Age's sales to wholesale customers, 

the Washington customers place their orders over the telephone by calling

Space Age's office in Oregon. Id. After Space Age has accepted a customer's

order, Space Age delivers the fuel to the wholesale customer in Space Age' s

own vehicles or, on occasion, by common carrier. CP 23, 27 -28. No

Washington customer returned any fuel to Space Age. CP 23 -24. 

Because Space Age's ability to make wholesale sales is driven solely

by price, Space Age made no effort to secure new customers for its fuel in

Washington. CP 54. 3 Space Age did not provide its customers or any

3 The State argued below that one of Space Age's employees, David Maydew, came
into Washington to solicit new business for Space Age. CP 261. That argument is

misleading, however, because it omits that Mr. Maydew's only activity in looking for
potential business from Washington customers took place when Mr. Maydew was first
employed by Space Age, in 2001. CP 374 -75. By the time ofthe audit period, Mr. Maydew
was working in the retail portion of Space Age' s business, which involved running Space
Age's convenience stores in Oregon. CP 373. 
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potential customers with Space Age displays, brochures, product samples, or

similar items. CP 22. No Space Age employee or representative, while

present in Washington, provided instruction, technical assistance, or other

expertise regarding the use of fuel sold by Space Age. CP 17 -18. 

Mr. Maydew was the only Space Age employee who visited any

customers in Washington. CP 54. Mr. Maydew visited four out of Space

Age' s approximately 40 different wholesale customers in Washington for a

total of less than one hour. CP 15 -17, 56. At no time during any of these

visits did Mr. Maydew inventory any products, assess customer product

needs, or recommend or suggest the use of any products. CP 19 -20. At no

time during these visits did Mr. Maydew accept any payment for past, 

present, or future orders, transport or offer to transport any documents, 

orders, or products to be returned to Space Age, or in any other manner

maintain the account of, provide service to, or accommodate any of these

customers in any other way. CP 20. 

Mr. Maydew's visits occurred over a multi -year period. CP 57. Space

Age did not direct Mr. Maydew to make these visits, and he conducted no

company business during these visits. Id. Mr. Maydew used his own car, and

was not reimbursed for his expenses. Id. In fact, Mr. Maydew was on his

own time when he stopped by each ofthe four customers' stores, either going
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to or returning from fishing trips in Astoria. Id. Mr. Maydew spent less than

one hour total while making these visits. Id. Because of the fungible nature

of non - branded fuel, Mr. Maydew's visits had no impact on Space Age's

ability to sell fuel to these four customers. Id. 

Space Age originally sold fuel to a customer located on East Fourth

Plain Boulevard in Vancouver. CP 54. Later, however, that business was

sold to BBC Petro Group ( "BBC "). Id. BBC was the entity that installed a

sign that resembled a Space Age sign. CP 54 -55. BBC installed that sign

without Space Age's permission, knowledge, or assistance. CP 55. Space

Age does not supply its customers with signs for their businesses. Id. Space

Age does not own the East Fourth Plain Boulevard property, and had no legal

right to access it. Id. Space Age did, however, contact BBC in an effort to

have it remove the signage. Id. BBC refused to do so. Id. Sometime

thereafter, the sign was removed by someone unknown to Space Age. Id. 

2) Procedural Facts

In late 2007 or early 2008, DOR audited Space Age to verify that

Space Age' s business activities and transactions were properly reported on its

tax returns. CP 6. Following the audit, on October 30, 2008, DOR issued an

Auditor's Detail of Differences and Instructions to Taxpayer, and assessed

B &O taxes against Space Age in the sum of $235, 834 for certain wholesale
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sales during the audit period. Id. 

Space Age believed that DOR' s assessment was improper, and on

December 18, 2008, Space Age filed an administrative appeal with DOR in

accordance with WAC 458 -20 -100. CP 6. In defense of the appeal DOR

made three arguments as to why the requisite nexus existed between Space

Age and Washington: ( 1) the brief visits by Mr. Maydew to four Space Age

customers; ( 2) an alleged exclusive contract between Space Age and a

customer called "Quick Stops; i4 and ( 3) the signs at the Vancouver gasoline

station. 

On June 3, 2009, DOR issued a Determination denying Space Age' s

administrative appeal. CP 6. Space Age filed a petition for reconsideration, 

and on October 15, 2009, DOR issued a letter denying the petition for

reconsideration. Id. 

On November 9, 2009, Space Age paid DOR the assessed B &O taxes

of $235, 834, together with interest and penalties thereon in the sum of

114, 174.22. CP 6. 

Space Age commenced this action in the Thurston County Superior

Court on March 11, 2010. CP 5 - 8. The case was assigned to the Honorable

Thomas McPhee. 

4 The State made no reference to this alleged contract as part of its motion for

summary judgment in this matter. 
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Space Age and the State filed cross - motions for summary judgment

CP 62 -79, 258 -77. Although not argued at the administrative level, the

State's primary argument in support of its motion for summary judgment, and

in opposition to Space Age's motion for summary judgment, was that Space

Age' s delivery of fuel, in its own trucks, to customers in Washington was

sufficient to create the required substantial nexus. CP 266 -70, 402 -05, 428- 

31. The State also argued that Mr. Maydew's visits, along with the supposed

Space Age signs at the Vancouver location, also created the requisite

substantial nexus. CP 270 -73, 405 -06, 431 -32. Finally, the State argued that

the requisite substantial nexus existed because Space Age supplied fuel prices

to Washington customers via telephone, facsimile, and e -mail. CP 261, 270. 

After oral argument on the cross - motions for summary judgment, the

court orally announced its decision from the bench. RPII 3 -6. 5 The court

addressed each of the three grounds that the State asserted in support of its

argument that the required substantial nexus existed. RPII 3 -6. First, the

court stated that there were disputed issues ofmaterial fact as to whether Mr. 

Maydew's visits to Space Age's customers were sufficient to create the

required substantial nexus: 

5 The record of proceedings consists of two volumes, with the first volume
consisting of the oral argument and the second volume consisting of the court's oral ruling. 
As the two volumes are separately paginated, in this brief Space Age refers to the second
volume as " RPII." 
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RPII 3. 

I've already indicated my view that one factor here that was briefed
and argued briefly cannot be the basis of my decision this morning, 
because there are disputed facts that are material to that issue. And

those involve the on -site visits by Mr. Maydew on his way to and
from fishing. 

Second, the court addressed the State' s argument about the telephone

calls and faxes between Space Age and its customers: 

RPII 4. 

m]y sense of the law is that if that third prong, calls and faxes, was
the only prong we had here, that would probably be insufficient to
establish a nexus. I don't know of any case that has directly addressed
that issue without some accompanying actual presence in the state. 
But of course we have that here with the deliveries. 

Third, the court addressed the State' s delivery argument: 

I'1l not repeat all of the factors argued by the state regarding
deliveries. There were deliveries in excess of 1, 000 over the taxing
period. Fuel valued at more than $48 million was involved in
those deliveries. And they were done by special licensed trucks
owned and operated for the most part by Space Age Fuels. * * * 

So the question for me is, is that sufficient to meet the Lamtec
Corporation test for a substantial nexus. The test is simple. The

activities must be substantial and must be associated with the

company's abilities to establish and maintain the company's market
within the state. I conclude that those deliveries clearly meet that test

and that they, by themselves, constitute a substantial nexus. I don't
really reach the issue ofwhether the calls and faxes into the state from
the office in Gresham are necessary to complete the substantial nexus
analysis. I conclude that these deliveries meet the tests. 

RPII 4 -5 ( emphasis added). 
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Thereafter, the trial court entered an order granting the State's motion

for summary judgment. CP 443 -46. Space Age then filed a timely notice of

appeal. CP 447 -53. 

D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In order for a state to impose a tax upon a non - resident taxpayer

without violating the Commerce Clause ofthe United States Constitution, the

tax must, inter alia, be applied to an activity with a substantial nexus to the

taxing state. An in -state activity creates nexus if it is " substantial" and

significantly associated with the taxpayer's ability to establish and maintain a

market within [ the taxing] state." 

DOR has promulgated a regulation describing when a tax may be

assessed based on the sale ofproducts delivered to a customer in Washington

in the taxpayer's own trucks. Under that regulation, the State may impose the

tax " if there is nexus." In other words, the delivery itself cannot create the

nexus. The trial court's ruling that " delivery alone" creates the requisite

nexus was contrary to this regulation and erroneous. 

An activity is " significantly associated with the taxpayer's ability to

establish and maintain a market within [the taxing] state" if it is designed to

generate an original or subsequent sale of goods or services in the state. 

Delivery of a product that the customer has already ordered, even if the
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delivery is made in the taxpayer's own trucks, is not an activity "significantly

associated with the taxpayer's ability to establish and maintain a market

within [ the taxing] state." The trial court's ruling to the contrary was

erroneous. 

E. 
ARGUMENT6

1) The Commerce Clause Prohibits State Action that

Discriminates Against Interstate Commerce and Bars State

Regulations that Unduly Burden Interstate Commerce

The Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution authorizes

Congress to "regulate Commerce with foreign Nations, and among the several

States." U.S. Const. Art I, § 8, cl. 3. The Commerce Clause, "' by its own

force' prohibits certain state actions that interfere with interstate commerce." 

Quill Corp. v. North Dakota, 504. U.S. 298, 112 S. Ct. 1904, 119 L. Ed. 2d 91

1992), quoting South Carolina State Highway Department v. Barnwell

Brothers, Inc., 303 U.S. 177, 185, 58 S. Ct. 510, 82 L. Ed. 2d 734 ( 1938). 

The Commerce Clause addresses

structural concerns about the effects of state regulation on the national

economy. Under the Articles of Confederation, state taxes and duties

6 This Court is well - acquainted with the standard ofreview on summary judgment. 

A party is not entitled to summary judgment unless there is no genuine issue ofmaterial fact
and it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56( c). A court must construe the facts

and all inferences from them in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, here Space
Age. Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wn. 2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 ( 1982). The motion should

only be granted " if, from all the evidence, reasonable persons could reach but one
conclusion." Id. This Court reviews a summary judgment de novo. Dowler v. Clover Park
School Dist. No. 400, 172 Wn. 2d 471,' 484, 258 P. 3d 676 ( 2011). 
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hindered and suppressed interstate commerce; the Framers intended
the Commerce Clause as a cure for these structural ills. It is in this
light that we have interpreted the negative implication of the
Commerce Clause. Accordingly, we have ruled that the Clause
prohibits discrimination against interstate commerce, and bars state

regulations that unduly burden interstate commerce. 

Quill, supra, 504 U.S. at 312 ( citations omitted).? 

2) For a State Tax not to Run Afoul of the Commerce Clause, 
there must be Substantial Nexus Between the Activities of the

Taxpayer and the Taxing State

The United States Supreme Court applies a four -part test in evaluating

whether a state tax violates the Commerce Clause; the Court

will sustain a tax against a Commerce Clause challenge so long as
the tax [ 1] is applied to an activity with a substantial nexus with the

taxing State, [ 2] is fairly apportioned, [ 3] does not discriminate

against interstate commerce, and [ 4] is fairly related to the services

provided by the State." 

Id. at 311, quoting Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady, 430 U.S. 274, 279, 

97 S. Ct. 1076, 51 L. Ed. 2d 326 ( 1977). Accord Lamtec Corp. v. 

Department ofRevenue, 170 Wn. 2d 838, 844, 246 P. 3d 788, 791 -92, cert. 

denied, U.S. , 132 S. Ct. 95 ( 2011) ( for a state to tax an out -of -state

corporation the tax must meet the four -part Complete Auto test). 

In contrast to the structural concerns of the Commerce Clause, the Due Process
Clause of the United States Constitution " centrally concerns the fundamental fairness of
governmental activity." Id. 
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The Court has observed that

t]he Complete Auto analysis reflects these concerns about the

national economy. The second and third parts of that analysis, which
require fair apportionment and non- discrimination, prohibit taxes that

pass an unfair share of the tax burden onto interstate commerce. The

first and fourth prongs, which require a substantial nexus and a

relationship between the tax and state - provided services, limit the
reach of state taxing authority so as to ensure that state taxation does
not unduly burden interstate commerce. 

Quill, supra, 504 U.S. at 313 ( footnote omitted).
8

3) Substantial Nexus" Exists Only when Activities Performed
in the Taxing State are Significantly Associated with the
Taxpayer' s Ability to Establish and Maintain a Market in the
Taxing State

In determining whether or not the requisite nexus exists, " the crucial

factor is whether the activities performed in [the taxing] state on behalfofthe

taxpayer are significantly associated with the taxpayer's ability to establish

and maintain a market in this state for the sales." Tyler Pipe Industries, Inc. 

v. Washington State Department ofRevenue, 483 U.S. 232, 250, 107 S. Ct. 

8 Because the Commerce Clause addresses different concerns than does the Due
Process Clause, different tests exist for evaluating the constitutionality ofa state tax under the
two clauses. Id. For a state tax not to run afoul of the Commerce Clause, there must, inter

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