RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jul 24, 2012, 2:19 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

44195-1

NO. 86972-3

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SPACE AGE FUELS, INC,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT M. MCKENNA
Attorney General

Charles Zalesky, WSBA No. 37777
Assistant Attorney General
David M. Hankins, WSBA No. 19194
Senior Counsel
Revenue Division
PO Box 40123
Olympia, WA 98504-0123
(360) 753-5528

ORIGINAL

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review.

This appeal stems from the grant of summary judgment in favor of the Department of Revenue and involves the application of undisputed facts to established principles of constitutional law. Accordingly, the Court's review is de novo. *Flight Options, LLC v. Dep't of Revenue*, 172 Wn.2d 487, 495, 259 P.3d 234 (2011).

B. The Business Activities Performed By Space Age In Washington Were More Than Sufficient To Meet The Nexus Requirement Of The Dormant Commerce Clause.

The Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution gives Congress the power to "regulate Commerce . . . among the several States." U.S. Const., art. I, § 8, cl. 3. The United States Supreme Court has

consistently interpreted this express grant of authority as also imposing certain limits on the power of the states to tax interstate commerce even in the absence of congressional action. These limits on state jurisdiction to tax interstate commerce under the “dormant” Commerce Clause have “evolved substantially over the years.” *Quill Corp. v. North Dakota*, 504 U.S. 298, 309, 112 S. Ct. 1904, 119 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1992). Under current dormant Commerce Clause jurisprudence, a state tax on interstate commerce is valid if it: (1) is applied to an activity with a substantial nexus with the taxing State; (2) is fairly apportioned; (3) does not discriminate against interstate commerce; and (4) is fairly related to the services provided by the State. *Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady*, 430 U.S. 274, 279, 97 S. Ct. 1076, 51 L. Ed. 2d 326 (1977).

Space Age challenges the first prong of the four-part *Complete Auto* test as applied to its wholesale sales of motor fuel and special fuel to Washington customers.⁵ That prong (“substantial nexus”) has two important jurisdictional components. *See generally*, John A. Swain, *State Income Tax Jurisdiction: A Jurisprudential and Policy Perspective*, 45 Wm. & Mary L. Rev. 319, 328-29 (2003-04) (explaining the two

⁵ Washington courts have previously addressed the second and third prongs of the *Complete Auto* test with respect to the Washington B&O tax on retail or wholesale sales, upholding the tax as non-discriminatory and inherently apportioned. *E.g.*, *W.R. Grace & Co. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 137 Wn.2d 580, 596-97, 973 P.2d 1011, *cert. denied*, 528 U.S. 950 (1999).

meanings of the term “nexus” for purposes of state tax jurisdiction). First, it limits the jurisdictional reach of the states to tax transactions, activities, or property that are not sufficiently connected with the taxing state. *Id.* This component (often referred to as “transactional nexus”) is not at issue in this case because all of the wholesale sales made by Space Age that are at issue in this case occurred within Washington. There is simply no dispute that Washington had sufficient “transactional nexus” to tax wholesale sales occurring within its borders.

The second important jurisdictional component of “substantial nexus” is the connection between the state and the taxpayer that owes the tax or is being asked to collect and remit the tax. *Id.* This component (often referred to as “entity nexus”) is being disputed by Space Age and is the focus of the arguments that follow.

1. Space Age had substantial nexus with Washington even under the *Quill* physical presence safe harbor.

The concept of “substantial nexus” with the taxpayer under the dormant Commerce Clause is best understood as “a means for limiting state burdens on interstate commerce.” *Quill Corp. v. North Dakota*, 504 U.S. 298, 313, 112 S. Ct. 1904, 119 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1992). States are not permitted to unduly burden interstate commerce by taxing a person that lacks nexus with the taxing state. However, while the Commerce Clause

prevents states from unduly burdening interstate commerce, “[i]t is not the purpose of the Commerce Clause to relieve those engaged in interstate commerce from their just share of state tax burden even though it increases the cost of doing the business.” *General Motors Corp. v. City of Seattle*, 107 Wn. App. 42, 50, 25 P.3d 1022 (2001) (internal quotes and citations omitted), *review denied*, 145 Wn.2d 1014 (2001), *cert. denied*, 535 U.S. 1056 (2002). *See also Department of Revenue v. Association of Washington Stevedoring Cos.*, 435 U.S. 734, 748, 98 S. Ct. 1388, 55 L. Ed. 2d 682 (1978) (“The Commerce Clause balance tips against the [state] tax only when it unfairly burdens commerce by exacting more than a just share from the interstate activity.”).

In the present case, Space Age did a substantial amount of interstate business with Washington customers from which it generates a significant amount of gross income each year. The question presented is whether Space Age has sufficient nexus under the dormant Commerce Clause to be subject to the Washington B&O tax on wholesale sales of motor fuel and special fuel to its Washington customers.

Since *Complete Auto Transit* was decided in 1977, the United States Supreme Court has not articulated any specific test or standard used to determine whether a taxpayer has substantial nexus with the taxing state. To the contrary, the Supreme Court recognizes that the concept of

nexus for state tax purposes is flexible and is determined not by rigid, bright-line rules, but based on the practical operation of the subject tax to the specific facts and circumstances involved. *E.g., D.H. Holmes Co. v. McNamara*, 486 U.S. 24, 32-33, 108 S. Ct. 1619, 100 L. Ed. 2d 21 (1988) (facts pertaining to mail-order seller's activities directed towards taxing state, plus its significant in-state presence, held sufficient to establish nexus for purpose of imposing use tax on catalogs printed and mailed from outside the state to in-state customers); *Oklahoma Tax Comm'n v. Jefferson Lines, Inc.*, 514 U.S. 175, 184, 115 S. Ct. 1331, 131 L. Ed. 2d 261 (1995) (in-state purchase of bus ticket, where transportation service originated, provided sufficient nexus for purpose of sales tax on transportation for hire services). As explained by Professor Swain:

Before deciding *Complete Auto*, the Court had wrestled with various "free trade" interpretations of the Commerce Clause. *Complete Auto*, however, finally "abandoned the abstract notion that interstate commerce 'itself' cannot be taxed by the States." *Complete Auto* repudiated the wooden formalism of earlier Commerce Clause analysis because it bore "no relationship to economic realities." *Complete Auto* and subsequent Supreme Court decisions have consistently reiterated that modern Commerce Clause jurisprudence is grounded in "pragmatism" and "economic realities," and is disdainful of "formalism," "magic words," and "labels."

John A. Swain, *Cybertaxation and the Commerce Clause: Entity Isolation or Affiliate Nexus?*, 75 S. Cal. L. Rev. 419, 427 (2001-02) (footnotes omitted).

The Supreme Court has, however, maintained one bright-line rule as part of its post-*Complete Auto* dormant Commerce Clause analysis. In *Quill Corp. v. North Dakota*, 504 U.S. 298, 112 S. Ct. 1904, 119 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1992), the Supreme Court upheld on *stare decisis* grounds the “safe harbor” rule established twenty-five years earlier in *Nat’l Bellas Hess, Inc. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 386 U.S. 753, 87 S. Ct. 1389, 18 L. Ed. 2d 505 (1967).⁶ Under that bright-line safe harbor rule, an out-of-state seller of goods can avoid the requirement to collect state sales or use taxes on inbound sales if that seller has no physical presence in the taxing state and its “only connection with customers in the [taxing] State is by common carrier or the United States mail.” *Quill*, 504 U.S. at 315 (quoting *Nat’l Bellas Hess*, 386 U.S. at 758).

Space Age had abundant physical presence in Washington during the periods at issue. It is undisputed that the fuel Space Age sold to its Washington wholesale customers during the period at issue was delivered

⁶ The Court in *Quill* overruled the portion of *Nat’l Bellas Hess* involving due process limitations on the ability of states to tax out-of-state mail-order vendors, holding that “[t]he requirements of due process [can be] met irrespective of a corporation’s lack of physical presence in the taxing State.” *Quill*, 504 U.S. at 308. However, the Court upheld on *stare decisis* grounds the physical presence safe harbor under the dormant Commerce Clause. *Id.* at 317.

by Space Age employees using delivery vehicles owned by Space Age. CP 285. Space Age made, at a minimum, 1,675 in-state deliveries during the three-and-one-half years at issue, and drove at least 186,877 miles within Washington when travelling to and from the place of sale. CP 81 (¶ 7); CP 330-49 (IFTA tax returns for the third quarter of 2005 through fourth quarter of 2007, showing miles driven in Washington). For each load of fuel Space Age delivered, a Space Age employee not only drove the fuel to that customer's location, but also performed essential services at the point of delivery such as "sticking the tank" to measure whether there was room for the fuel being delivered, and dropping or pumping the fuel from the Space Age truck into the customer's tank. CP 292-93; CP 295.

It is generally understood that the "physical presence" safe harbor upheld in *Quill* does not apply outside the context of state sales and use taxes. See *General Motors*, 107 Wn. App. at 54-55 (physical presence in the state is not required to establish nexus for B&O tax purposes).⁷ *But cf.* *Lamtec Corp. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 170 Wn.2d 838, 846-51, 246 P.3d 788,

⁷ In *General Motors*, the Court of Appeals quoted with approval from *Geoffrey, Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Comm'n*, 437 S.E.2d 13 (S.C. 1993), that "[a]ny corporation that regularly exploits the market of a state should be subject to its jurisdiction to impose an income tax even though not physically present." *General Motors*, 107 Wn. App. at 55. Applying that "regular exploitation" concept to the Seattle B&O tax at issue, the Court found that "[t]he automakers certainly exploit the market in the City, regardless of where they are physically located. We decline to extend *Quill's* physical presence requirement in this context." *Id.*

cert. denied, 132 S. Ct. 95 (2011) (this Court declined to address whether the physical presence safe harbor extends beyond sales and use taxes because taxpayer's regular visits to Washington to meet with customers were sufficient to establish a physical presence). While this issue has not been squarely addressed by the United States Supreme Court, "the great weight of authority" supports the view of our Court of Appeals that the physical presence requirement does not extend beyond state sales and use taxes. *Lamtec*, 170 Wn.2d at 849. See also *KFC Corp. v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue*, 792 N.W.2d 308, 320-22 (Iowa 2010), *cert. denied*, 132 S. Ct. 97 (2011) (discussing numerous post-*Quill* cases addressing whether physical presence is constitutionally required for imposing state taxes other than sales or use taxes).

Moreover, even with respect to sales and use taxes where the physical presence safe harbor does apply, it is generally understood that any presence (property or activity) of the entity in the taxing state that is demonstrably more than a "slightest presence" will exceed that safe harbor. As explained by the New York Court of Appeals in *Orvis Co. Inc. v. Tax Appeals Tribunal*, 86 N.Y.2d 165, 654 N.E.2d 945, *cert. denied*, 516 U.S. 989 (1995), "[w]hile a physical presence of the vendor is required, it need not be substantial. Rather, it must be demonstrably more than a slightest presence . . . [and] may be manifested by the presence in

the taxing State of the vendor's property or the conduct of economic activities" performed by the vendor or on its behalf. 654 N.E.2d at 960-61 (internal quotations and citation omitted).

Whether physical presence is required under the dormant Commerce Clause to justify imposing Washington's gross receipts tax on an out-of-state seller is not at issue in this appeal because Space Age had an abundant physical presence in Washington during the period at issue. That presence was more than sufficient to justify subjecting Space Age to the Washington tax even under the *Quill* physical presence safe harbor.

2. Evidence of substantial nexus is not limited to in-state activities occurring during the "solicitation stage," and can include deliveries by an out-of-state vendor in its own trucks.

Space Age argues that the regular presence of its employees and delivery vehicles within Washington is immaterial as a matter of constitutional law because that in-state presence occurred after the customer had already ordered the fuel. Br. of App. at 11. According to Space Age, the substantial nexus requirement of the dormant Commerce Clause is concerned only with "activities that occur at the initial and ongoing solicitation stages of the customer relationship and are designed to generate [] original or subsequent sales." *Id.* at 21. From this initial premise, Space Age argues that all other contacts with the state, including

economic exploitation of the state's market and physical presence occurring after the customer has made the decision to purchase the seller's goods, are not material in determining substantial nexus. Space Age is incorrect.

a. Substantial nexus does not require in-state solicitation of orders.

It is well-established that in-state solicitation or acceptance of individual orders for goods is not required for an out-of-state seller to have substantial nexus with the taxing state. *E.g.*, *Standard Pressed Steel Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 419 U.S. 560, 95 S. Ct. 706, 42 L. Ed. 2d 719 (1975); *Lamtec Corp. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 170 Wn.2d 838, 246 P.3d 788, *cert. denied*, 132 S. Ct. 95 (2011); *General Motors Corp. v. City of Seattle*, 107 Wn. App. 42, 25 P.3d 1022, *review denied*, 145 Wn.2d 1014 (2001), *cert. denied*, 535 U.S. 1056 (2002). Courts instead look primarily to whether the taxpayer's connections with the state were purposeful. This can include economic exploitation of the in-state market and activities that occur after the "solicitation stage."

For instance, in *Standard Pressed Steel*, the Supreme Court held that Washington could constitutionally tax an out-of-state manufacturer on sales it made to a Washington customer where the manufacturer employed one person who resided and worked in Washington. 419 U.S. at 561, 564.

The single employee did not solicit sales nor receive orders. *Id.* at 561. Rather, his “primary duty was to consult with [the purchaser] regarding its anticipated needs and requirements for aerospace fasteners and to follow up any difficulties in the use of [the out-of-state manufacturer’s] product after delivery.” *Id.* Additional employees of the manufacturer visited Washington on occasion to assist in these tasks. *Id.* The Court held that the tax was constitutional despite the fact that these employees did not solicit sales nor receive orders in Washington. *Id.*

As a matter of constitutional law, a state’s jurisdiction to tax an out-of-state business is not dependent on whether the nexus creating contacts occurred before or after a sale of goods was completed. *Standard Pressed Steel, supra; General Motors*, 107 Wn. App. at 52 (“Although the automakers place great emphasis on the fact that they engage in no direct selling activities in Seattle, substantial nexus has never turned on this distinction.”). *See also Dell Catalog Sales L.P. v. N.M. Taxation & Revenue Dep’t.*, 145 N.M. 419, 199 P.3d 863 (N.M. App.), *rev. denied*, 189 P.3d 1215 (N.M. 2008), *cert. denied*, 129 S. Ct. 1616 (2009) (post-sale warranty services performed on behalf of out-of-state vendor were sufficient to establish substantial nexus between the vendor and New Mexico). Moreover, in the present case Space Age did engage in nexus creating activity within Washington *before* the sale of fuel was complete.

While Space Age did not send employees into Washington to solicit sales or to accept orders, the actual sales were consummated in the state when Space Age employees transferred possession of the fuel to the Washington customers by dispensing the fuel into the customer's tank. *See* RCW 82.04.040(1) (defining "sale" to include "any transfer of the ownership of, title to, *or possession of* property for a valuable consideration") (emphasis added). Thus, the actual wholesale sales at issue in this appeal occurred in Washington when fuel was transferred from Space Age's trucks by Space Age employees into the holding tanks of Space Age's Washington customers.

Space Age is not constitutionally immune from Washington B&O tax on sales it made within the state using its own employees and its own transportation equipment simply because the orders were received and accepted outside Washington.

b. Deliveries of fuel by Space Age employees, using Space Age trucks, were significant and were associated with Space Age's ability to maintain its market within the state.

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